## **RECEIVED**

06-11-2018

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2018AP000216CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

KRISTY L. MALNORY, Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE, AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, IN THE WOOD COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE

HONORABLE GREGORY J. POTTER PRESIDING.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone) Zaleski@Ticon.net Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Did Malnory receive ineffective assistance of counsel in that trial counsel failed to object at trial to the admissibility of a "Blood/Urine Analysis" form which was purportedly signed by a "person acting under the direction of a physician" who did not testify at trial, on the basis that the admission of such form violated Malnory's right to confrontation under the 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution, Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution, Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), Bullcoming v. New Mexico, 564 U.S. 647 (2011), and Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305 (2009)?

The trial court answered: no.

Did Malnory receive ineffective assistance of counsel in that trial counsel failed to move to strike the testimony of an analyst from the Wisconsin State Hygiene Laboratory on grounds that such testimony was inadmissible under Wis. Stat. Sec. 343.305(5) because the State had not established that Malnory's blood had been drawn in compliance with Sec. 343.305(5)?

The trial court answered: no.

#### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel would welcome oral argument should this court determine that such argument would be helpful in addressing the issues presented in this brief.

Counsel believes that publication will not be warranted as this appeal involves the application of well-established legal principles to a particular set of facts.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Malnory with operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated (Count One) and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration (Count Two) both as second offenses. 3:1-2. A jury found Malnory guilty of both charges. 36:18-19. The

circuit court sentenced Malnory on the operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration charge to 22 days in jail. 22:1. The circuit also imposed a fine and costs totaling \$1505.00 as well a 15 month period of license revocation and 15 month period of ignition interlock. 22:1. The circuit court also denied a motion by Malnory to stay the sentence pending appeal. 75:10. Malnory timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, 19:1-2, pursuant to which the State Public Defender appointed the undersigned counsel. By and through counsel, Malnory filed a motion for new trial. 24:1-9. After an evidentiary hearing, the circuit court denied the motion. 77:1-12; 66:1. Malnory filed a notice of appeal, 29:1, and these proceedings follow.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

## Facts pertaining to trial

At trial, the State introduced the testimony of Stephanie Weber, an analyst with the Wisconsin State Hygiene Laboratory, who testified regarding the analysis of a sample of Malnory's blood collected and submitted by law enforcement. 35:155-162. In particular, Weber testified that Malnory's blood alcohol content was .184 grams of ethanol per 100 milliliters of blood. 35:162. The results of the analysis done by Weber were contained in her official report introduced at trial as Exhibit No. 7. 35:173; App.101.

The State also introduced a State of Wisconsin "Blood/Urine Analysis" form. 35:118,173; App.100. Under the heading of "Agency Information," the form lists "DEP/DEPU Eric Marten" of the "Wood County Sheriff's Dept." App.100. Under the heading of "Subject Information," the form lists Malnory's name, address, dated of birth, and sex. App.100. Under the heading of "Specimen Collection," the form contains a box with a hand-written "x" on it indicating that the specimen collected was blood. App.100. "collection date" of "06-30-15" is hand-written on the form as was a collection time of "0104." App.100. A notation of "a.m." is circled. App.100. Under the heading of "Specimen Collected by," the form contains a box with a hand-written "x" next to the reference "Person acting under the direction of a Physician." App.100. On a

line within the same section, the name "Precious H. Pulham" is hand-written, and on the signature line, the name "Precious H. Pulham" is again hand-written. App.100.

The State offered the "Blood/Urine" analysis form through the testimony of Deputy Eric Martens of the Wood County Sheriff's Department. 35:118. Martens testified that he completed portions of the form, 35:119, and that the person who drew Malnory's blood also completed portions of it. 35:119. Martens testified that such person was "Precious H. Pulham." 35:119. Martens testified that he observed Pulham complete her signature on the form and draw a sample of Malnory's blood. 35:119.

After Weber testified, trial counsel objected to the admission of Exhibit No. 7, Weber's report, and the "blood results," on the basis that the State had not established that Malnory's blood draw conformed with Wis. Stat. Sec. 343.305(5).<sup>1</sup> 35:170-171. Trial

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Blood may be withdrawn from the person arrested for violation of s. 346.63 (1), (2), (2m), (5), or (6) or 940.25, or s. 940.09 where the offense involved the use of a vehicle, or a local ordinance in conformity with s. 346.63 (1), (2m), or (5), or as provided in sub. (3) (am) or (b) to determine the presence or quantity of alcohol, a controlled substance, a controlled substance analog, or any other drug, or any combination of alcohol, controlled substance, controlled substance analog, and any other drug in the blood only by a physician, registered nurse, medical technologist, physician assistant,

counsel also objected to the admission of Exhibit No. 4. 35:173,174.2

The circuit court denied Malnory's objections and received Exhibit Nos. 4 and 7 into evidence. 35:173,174. In doing so, the circuit court found that the State introduced Weber's testimony "out of order" and prior to the anticipated testimony of the person who drew Malnory's blood. 35:171. The idea was that the person who drew the blood would testify after Weber. 35:171. The circuit court found that the State had subpoenaed that person but the person failed to show up for trial. 35:171. The circuit court stated that it was going to rely on Exhibit No. 4 in determining that Malnory's blood had been collected by a person acting under the direction of a physician and in compliance with the statute. 35:173.

#### Facts pertaining to postconviction motion

phlebotomist, or other medical professional who is authorized to draw blood, or person acting under the direction of a physician. Wis. Stat. Sec. 343.305(b). Italics added.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Trial counsel did not specify a particular legal basis for the objection.

Malnory's motion for new trial alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the admission of Exhibit No. 4, the "Blood/Urine Analysis" form on confrontations grounds. 24:1. Malnory's motion similarly alleged that trial counsel was ineffective by not moving to strike Weber's testimony on grounds that such testimony was inadmissible under Wis. Stat. Sec. 343.305(5). 24:1.

## Facts pertaining to hearing on motion for new trial

Trial counsel testified at the hearing. 38:6-19. Trial counsel testified that at the time of trial, she did not consider Exhibit No. 4 to be testimonial. 38:9. Trial counsel testified that she did not object to Exhibit No. 4 on confrontation grounds because she believed that the "statute governing how blood draws are to be brought in at trial covered that issue so I did not make that separate objection." 38:9. Trial counsel testified that she believed Weber's report, Exhibit No. 7 was the pivotal piece of evidence by the State. 38:10. Trial counsel testified that she believed it was

improper for the State to have admitted the report without the testimony of the phlebotomist. 38:10. Trial counsel agreed that she did not move to strike Weber's testimony or move for a mistrial. 38:11. Trial counsel testified that she thought she had moved for a mistrial and that she agreed that that was something that should have been done. 38:11. Trial counsel testified that the defense in the case "was a drinking after driving defense so we were not so much attacking the alcohol results as much as we were attacking—or saying when she consumed the alcohol. So the — results of the blood were not as important as the timing of it was." 38:11.

The circuit court determined that trial counsel was deficient in not moving to strike Weber's testimony but not deficient in failing to object to Exhibit No. 4. 77:7; App.109. The trial court found that trial counsel did object to Exhibit No. 4 on the basis of "chain of custody grounds" and on confrontation grounds. 77:7; App.109. The circuit court found that trial counsel had made an "implied" confrontation grounds argument. 77:7; App.109. As to

trial counsel's failure to move to strike Weber's testimony, the circuit court determined that such failure was deficient but not prejudicial. 77:7; App.109. The circuit court determined that "whether the phlebotomist was acting under the direction of a physician was not relevant to the defendant's defense" that "she drank after parking the car." 77:10; App.112. The circuit court similarly determined that "the defendant was able to present a defense that they wanted to" and that "[t]he presentation of the defense was not hampered by not having the phlebotomist testify." 77:10; App.112. The circuit court found that trial counsel's error was harmless. 77:10; App.112<sup>3</sup>

#### ARGUMENT

I. Malnory is entitled to a new trial because she received ineffective assistance of counsel.

#### A. Standard of review

Under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), a defendant alleging ineffective assistance of counsel must show that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The entirety of the circuit court's oral ruling appears in the Appendix at 13-113.

counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. To meet the deficiency prong, the defendant must show that counsel's conduct fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶19, 264 Wis.2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. To satisfy the prejudice aspect of Strickland, the person seeking relief must demonstrate that the lawyer's errors were sufficiently serious to deprive the person of a fair proceeding and reliable outcome, Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, and "must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Id.* at 694. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Id.* at 694. Stated otherwise, prejudice exists when "counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." *Id.* at 687. The focus of this inquiry is not on the outcome of the trial, but on "the reliability of the proceedings." State v. Pitsch. 124 Wis. 2d 628, 642, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985). A claim of ineffective

assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact. See *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111 at ¶21. This court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Findings of fact include "the circumstances of the case and the counsel's conduct and strategy." *Id.* Whether counsel's performance satisfies the constitutional standard for ineffective assistance of counsel is a question of law, which the court reviews de novo. *Id.* 

Whether the admission of evidence violates a defendant's right to confrontation is a question of constitutional law subject to independent review. See *State v. Mattox*, 2017 WI 9, ¶19, 373 Wis.2d 122, 890 N.W.2d 256.

B. The "Blood/Urine Analysis" form contains testimonial statements which, as admitted into evidence at trial, violated Malnory's right to confrontation.

Both the Sixth Amendment to the United States

Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee a

criminal defendant the right to confront witnesses who testify

against him at trial. See U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wis. Const. art. 1, §7.4 Wisconsin courts generally apply United States Supreme Court precedent when interpreting these clauses. See *State v. Mattox*, 2017 WI 9 at ¶20. In *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), the United States Supreme Court held that "[t]estimonial statements of witnesses absent from trial [can be] admitted only where the declarant is unavailable, and only where the defendant has had a prior opportunity to cross-examine. See *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 59. The Supreme Court in *Crawford* did not define "testimonial" but it identified three formulations of testimonial statements:

[E]x parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent-that is, material such as affidavits, custodial examination, prior testimony that the defendant was unable to cross-examine, or similar pre-trial statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorily.

----

[E]xtrajudicial statements ...contained in formalized testimonial materials, such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or confessions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right...to be confronted with the witnesses against him..." Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution states: "In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right...to meet the witnesses face to face..."

---

[S]tatements that were made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the *statement* would be available for use at a later trial.

Italics added. See Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51-52. In subsequent decisions, the Supreme Court fleshed out with more particularity what it means for a statement to be "testimonial." In Ohio v. Clark, 135 S.Ct. 2173 (2015), the Supreme Court held that a statement is "testimonial" if it was given with the primary purpose of creating an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony. See *id.* at 2183. The court similarly couched the test as whether the statement was made with the primary purpose of "establishing," "gathering," or "creating" evidence for the defendant's prosecution. See id. at 2181-2183. Some factors relevant in the primary purpose analysis include: 1)the formality/informality of the situation producing the out-of-court statement; 2) whether the statement was given to a law enforcement or a non-law enforcement individual; 3)the age of the declarant; and 4)the context in which the statement was given. See *Ohio v. Clark*, 135 S.Ct. at 2180-2182. Our state supreme court recently drew upon *Ohio v. Clark* in deciding *State v. Mattox*, supra. In *Mattox*, the court found that a toxicology report was not "testimonial" because its "primary purpose" was to assist the medical examiner in determining the cause of death rather than to create a substitute for out-of-court testimony or to gather evidence against the defendant for prosecution. See *State v. Mattox*, 2017 WI 9 at ¶37.

In this case, the primary purpose of the "Blood/Urine Analysis" form and Pulham's purported statements on it was to gather, collect, and create evidence to be used in a criminal prosecution.<sup>5</sup> The form itself explicitly references "Wisconsin Statute 343.305(3)" as part of its heading or title. App.100. The form also specifically identifies Malnory as the subject as well as the offense at issue, Wis. Stat. Sec. 346.63(1)(a). App.100. The form identifies law enforcement, specifically the Wood County

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Pulham's statements include her notations as to the collection date, the collection time, the type of specimen collected, and most importantly, as to her status as a "person acting under the direction of a physician."

Sheriff's Office, as the agency requesting the analysis. App.100. The form identifies the specimen to be collected, blood, and identifies the person purportedly collecting the specimen, Precious H. Pulham. App.100. In this regard, the form itself expressly serves to initiate and document compliance with Sec. 343.305(3), the statute which authorizes the collection of certain biological evidence, specifically breath, blood or urine, to be used in the prosecution of certain enumerated offenses. As such, the form itself plainly depicts that its primary purpose is the collection and documentation of evidence for a future prosecution. In accordance with the form itself, Martens testified at trial that the "Blood/Urine Analysis" form is "the standard form that is used" when a blood draw is taken from a suspected drunk driver. 35:154. Pulham's notation on the form that she is a "[p]erson acting under the direction of a [p]hysician," was made in furtherance of law enforcement's effort to collect, gather and document specific evidence to be used against Malnory in a specific prosecution, one for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant.

Specifically, such notation by Pulham served to facilitate the admissibility of such evidence by documenting that she was a "person acting under the direction of a physician" as required by Sec. 343.305(5)(b). For the above reasons, Pulham's statements on the form must be considered "testimonial" not only under the "primary purpose" test but under *Crawford* as well. After all, Crawford provides that testimonial statements include "pre-trial" statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorily," and "[s]tatements that were circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial." See Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51-52. Italics added. Pulham's statements within the "Blood/Urine Analysis" form plainly fall within these categories.

This case involves a fact pattern similar to those presented in *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305 (2009), and *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, 564 U.S. 647 (2011). In *Melendez-Diaz*, the defendant was charged with distributing and trafficking

cocaine. *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305 at 308. At trial, the prosecution placed into evidence bags containing the purported cocaine along with certificates of analysis from the state crime lab showing the results of the forensic analysis performed on the seized substances. *Id.* The certificates stated the purported weight of the bags of cocaine seized and that the bags "[h]a[ve] been examined with the following results: the substance was found to contain: Cocaine." *Id.* The analysts conducting the tests of the purported cocaine and drafting the certificates did not testify at trial. The Supreme Court concluded as follows:

In short, under our decision in **Crawford**, the analyst's affidavits were testimonial statements, and the analysts were "witnesses" for purposes of the Sixth Amendment. Absent a showing that the analysts were unavailable to testify at trial and that the petitioner had a prior opportunity to cross-examine them, petitioner was entitled to "be confronted with" the analysts at trial. **Id.** at 311. (Internal citation omitted).

Like the analysts' affidavits in *Melendez-Diaz*, the "Blood/Urine Analysis" form and the data written on it, constituted testimonial statements. Like the analysts, Pulham also was a "witness" for purposes of the Sixth Amendment and Article I, Section 7.

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