# **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-09-2018

# COURT OF APPEACLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

APPEAL NO. 2018AP216 CR CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 2015CT360

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Kristy L. Malnory,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON JANUARY 29, 2018, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WOOD COUNTY, THE HONORABLE GREGORY J. POTTER, PRESIDING, DENYING DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S POST-CONVICTION MOTION

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Submitted by:

Leigh M. Neville-Neil Assistant District Attorney Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent Wisconsin State Bar No. 1081292

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

#### ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR AND PROPERLY RULED THAT THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE, AND THEREFORE, SHOULD NOT RECEIVE A NEW TRIAL

## I. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Law

The standard of review of ineffective assistance of counsel claims is a mixed question of law and fact, and therefore, the circuit court's findings of fact will "not be overturned unless clearly erroneous," but the ultimate determination of whether trial counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial to defendant are issues of law that the appellate court reviews independently. State v. Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845, 847 (1990). The court will uphold a circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, including the circumstances of a case, and the strategy of the defense. State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶23, 264 Wis. 2d 571. The appellate court should be "highly deferential" and not second-guess trial counsel's strategy, unless it was "irrational," or very clearly unreasonable. State v. Breitzman, 2017 100, ¶65, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 466. Ineffective WΙ

assistance of counsel claims are to be reviewed from the trial counsel's perspective during the time of the trial, rather than in hindsight, and the reviewing court is to give trial counsel "great deference" to make every effort to prevent an ineffective assistance of counsel claim determination. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, (1984).

All defendants in criminal cases have Constitutional right to be represented by effective counsel under both the U.S. and Wisconsin VI, XIV; Constitutions. U.S. Const. amends. Const. art I §7. Effective counsel does not mean that trial counsel has to be perfect; it is not even required for counsel be good to be to legally sufficient. State v. Williquette, 180 Wis. 2d 589, 603, 510 N.W.2d 708, (Wis. Ct. App. 1993). A convicted defendant-appellant must identify acts or omissions by trial counsel that were not the "result of reasonable professional judgment," to show that trial counsel was deficient. State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 637, 369 N.W.2d 711 (Wis. 1985).

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the burden is on the defendant-appellant to show

deficient performance by trial counsel, both prejudice to the defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 687. There is a strong presumption that trial offered effective and reasonable assistance counsel within what one would expect of a legal professional. deficient performance, a defendant-Td. Тο show appellant must show that trial counsel's errors were so serious that the lawyer was not acting as counsel, which deprived the defendant-appellant of the right to a fair trial. Id. at 687. Trial counsel's performance is only deficient if it falls under an objective standard of reasonableness. Id. There are many ways to provide proper effective assistance of counsel in each case, and even "the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way. Id. Though there is not a specific test to determine whether counsel's assistance inefficient, was "intensive scrutiny...and rigid requirements acceptable assistance could dampen the ardor and impair the independence of defense counsel, discourage the acceptance of assigned cases, and undermine the trust between attorney and client." Id. at 690.

Only if the court finds that there was deficient performance do we then look to see if that deficiency prejudiced the defendant-appellant, depriving him or her of their right to a fair trial, and that but for the deficiency, the result of the trial would have turned out in favor of the defendant-appellant. Id.; State v. Foster, 2014 WI 131, ¶64, 360 Wis. 2d 12, 42. defendant-appellant has to affirmatively prove prejudice. *Id.* at 693. It is not enough for defendant-appellant to show that counsel committed some errors that might have had some effect on the outcome of the trial, as many errors impair the presentation of the defense, but do not affect the ultimate result. Id.

## Confrontation Clause

Whether admission of evidence violates a defendant's right of confrontation is a question of law that this court reviews de novo. State v. Williams, 253 Wis. 2d 99, ¶7, 644 N.W.2d 919 (2002). A defendant in a criminal proceeding has a right to confront any person whose out of court statements are testimonial, and are being offered by the State at trial. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S.Ct. 1354 (2004).

Though there is not a comprehensive definition of which statements are testimonial, statements where the declarant would reasonably know that the statement would later be used to prove some fact at trial are generally deemed to be testimonial. *Id*. at 51.

Not all hearsay implicates the Confrontation Clause under the Sixth Amendment. Id. Expert witness testimony does not violate the Confrontation Clause when his or her opinion is based in part on data created by a non-testifying witness when the testifying expert formed an independent evaluation. State v. Williams, 2002 WI 58,¶¶ 20,25, 253 Wis. 2d 99. When a non-testifying expert documents "with sufficient detail for another expert to understand, interpret, and evaluate," the testifying expert's testimony does not violate the Confrontation Clause. State v. Griep, 2015 WI 40, ¶40, 361 Wis. 2d 657, 682-683.

## Analysis

# I. Deficient Performance

The first step in the review of any ineffective assistance of counsel claim is to determine if the circuit court's findings of fact were erroneous

relating to deficient performance and prejudice. State v. Foster, 2014 WI 131, ¶64, 360 Wis. 2d 12, 42. The State argues that the circuit court's findings of fact were not clearly erroneous. The State further argues that trial counsel was not deficient in her performance as it relates to the objection made to the admission of Exhibit 4, the Blood Urinalysis Screening form, and similarly for not moving to strike testimony from the analyst. It is undisputed that trial counsel did object to the admission of the Blood Urine Analysis collection form (Exhibit 4) being admitted into evidence, similarly objected to the court receiving the laboratory report (Exhibit 7) into evidence. (R. 170:21-25, 171:1-24).

Trial counsel's arguments centered around Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5)(b)which reads, "Blood may be withdrawn from a person arrested for [operating while intoxicated]...to determine the presence or quantity of alcohol...in the blood only by a physician, ...nurse, ...phlebotomist, or other medical professional which is authorized to draw blood acting under the direction of a physician." Trial counsel argued that because the phlebotomist was not there to testify in person, the

State failed to prove that the blood was drawn by a qualified person, and therefore, the blood result is rightfully overruled inadmissible. The court objection, as § 343.305(5)(b) does not say that if the phlebotomist is not there to testify in person as to his or her qualifications, the blood result is per se inadmissible. The court found that officer t.he testified to going to St. Joseph's Hospital, one that is known country-wide. The officer asked medical staff for a qualified person to come and draw the blood, something this officer has done during his hundreds of OWI arrests. It is presumed that when one goes to a reputable hospital to ask for a blood draw that a qualified person is going to conduct the blood draw. The officer testified that a phlebotomist drew the defendant-appellant's blood, and that he observed the entire process and collected the evidence. The officer collected the form that both he and the phlebotomist filled out, a form that is prepared as a business record, a form that indicated that the phlebotomist was acting under the direction of a physician. The circuit court properly ruled that Exhibit 4 should be admitted into evidence over the defense's objections, because the State offered proof through the officer that a qualified person drew the defendant's blood, and that there was no statutory violation. (R. 171:13-25, 172-173:1-11).

Though the court during its ruling did not say the phrase "Confrontation Clause", the court ruled that Exhibit 4 was admissible, as the officer witnessed the qualified blood draw, witnessed the phlebotomist conduct the draw, and maintained evidence from the moment it left the defendantappellant's arm until the evidence was submitted to the Hygiene Lab, that the phlebotomist not being there to testify went to credibility rather than admissibility of the evidence. (R. 172:6-7). The court went on to say that even though the defense is arguing that officer does not have first-hand knowledge of the phlebotomist's qualifications, because the officer was at a reputable hospital, and the officer witnessed the phlebotomist check the box that she was acting under the direction of a physician, the court was going to rely on that information in accepting the laboratory report into evidence. (R. 173:1-11).

Additionally, whether a person drawing the defendant's blood is a qualified person under the statute, is not a material issue for the jury to decide, nor for the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt at trial, as it does not go to the elements of the offenses of OWI or Operating With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration. (See WI Jury Instruction 2669). Had the legislature intended this, this language would be added to the elements of the offense.

Lastly, as it relates to Exhibit 4, the court that trial counsel did object on "implied confrontation grounds." (App. 2 7:10-13). The State argues that this finding of fact was not erroneous. The defense's objection was, "Yes Judge, I am objecting to the admissibility of the blood results basically under added) 343.305(5) and (emphasis because the phlebotomist is not being called. I am objecting to the admissibility of the blood test. There stipulation to that person not being called. defense did not become aware that she was not going to be called as a witness until after the testified. It was our understanding and assumption that witnesses were being called out of order, as the

phlebotomist was on the witness list, was introduced to the jury during voir dire, and said she was on her way. It was discovered after that she was not coming or has not appeared..." (R. 170:21-25, 171: 1-10). For trial counsel to state the statutory objection and then and we were under the understanding she was coming to testify, and that there was no stipulation to that person not being called does imply that the defense will now not have an opportunity to examine the phlebotomist. Had this objection been all about the statute, all trial counsel would have argued is that there is no proof that the phlebotomist was a qualified person under the statute. Saying that the defense did not stipulate to the phlebotomist testifying implies that the State had an obligation to phlebotomist, produce the from the defense's perspective, and if true, not producing her, would have been a violation of the confrontation clause, according to the defense. Trial counsel only arguing a statutory objection would not have cared about the phlebotomist not being there, as if there truly was a statutory violation, and the court interpreted the statute to mean that failure to provide proof that the blood was

drawn by a qualified person meant that the blood was per se inadmissible, this would have been a very successful defense victory on the objection. Based solely on statutory grounds, it is better for defense that the phlebotomist not be there in person to be able to make these arguments. The alleged confrontation violation argument was implied bу counsel's statements.

# II. Confrontation Clause: Exhibit 4

The admission of Exhibit 4 was not a violation of the Confrontation Clause, as this Blood Urinalysis Screening form is not testimonial. Non-testimonial statements are not subject to the Confrontation Clause analysis. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, at 51; State v. Mattox, 2017 WI 9, ¶24, 373 Wid. 2d 122, 138. This form primarily contains biographical data about the defendant known by both the defendant and the police officer. The primary purpose of the blood screening from is to establish the chain of custody for the defendant's blood from the time that it leaves her arm until the time that it is received to be analyzed by the Laboratory of Hygiene. This is the reason that

both the officer and the phlebotomist have a section of the form to fill out. It's primary purpose is not to prove that the phlebotomist was acting under the direction of a physician, as when a person goes to the hospital to have a blood draw, and medical staff send in a phlebotomist from their lab, it is presumed that he or she is acting under the direction of a physician.

In Mattox, the court ruled that if a document's primary purpose was to create an out of substitute for trial testimony, it is likely testimonial, it's admission and subject Confrontation Clause analysis. Id. at ¶32, quoting Bryant, 562 U.S. at 538, 131 S.Ct. 1143. Just as the toxicology report in Mattox, the primary purpose of the phlebotomist Blood Urinalysis Screening form is provide information to the Laboratory of Hygiene's analyst as it relates to date and time of collection, both of which are things the officer personally observed and acknowledged, and not to serve substitute for trial testimony. In Mattox, defendant was convicted of reckless homicide as result of a drug overdose, and our Supreme Court held the toxicology report, a that pivotal piece οf

evidence, that showed the presence of drugs in the victim's system at the time of death, was not testimonial, and therefore did not implicate *Mattox's* right to confrontation of the toxicologist that prepared the report. *Id.* at ¶4.

Similarly in *Griep*, our Supreme court upheld the defendant's conviction for OWI third offense, even though the analyst that performed the defendant's blood analysis was not available for trial. *State v. Griep*, 2015 WI 40, ¶3, 361 Wis. 2d 657, 661. The laboratory analysis of a defendant's blood in an OWI trial is obviously a pivotal piece of evidence, more pivotal than a phlebotomist report.

In an unpublished opinion, authored by the Honorable J.P. Johnson, which certainly is not binding on this court, but can be considered, this court upheld the conviction of the defendant for OWI. State v. Barden 2008 WI App. 36, ¶28, 308 Wis. 2d 396. In Barden, the State introduced into evidence the Blood Urinalysis Screening form signed by the phlebotomist as evidence that the phlebotomist was acting under the direction of a physician without testimony, in accordance with Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5). Id. at 9.

Trial counsel did not object to its admission, (unlike in the present case), and the court ruled that because the State introduced evidence that the blood draw took place at a hospital, a controlled setting, by a person designated as a phlebotomist, that that person was acting under direction of a physician in accordance with the statute. *Id*.

In this case, the admission of Exhibit 4 was not a violation of the Confrontation Clause, nor was trial counsel deficient in failing to state the phrase "Confrontation Clause" during her objection argument, because, as the trial court found, a confrontation argument was implied. If the admission of an actual blood analysis report into evidence without the analyst that performed the analysis being available to testify being subject to cross examination is legally permissible, it just cannot be that a phlebotomist, not appearing at trial despite a subpoena, and not being available to testify is violation а Confrontation Clause. Because the court found, based on facts and circumstances presented at trial through the about the circumstances surrounding legitimate blood draw, the court properly held that the blood was drawn in compliance with Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5). Whether blood is drawn in compliance with the statute is not an issue for the jury to decide, but for the court, as it does not go to the elements of the offenses that are the subject of the trial.

Trial counsel properly objected to the admission of Exhibit 4 (and Exhibit 7), and was not deficient in her performance. Even if she was, this deficiency did not cause any prejudice to the defendant to warrant a new trial.

Even if this court finds that there confrontation clause violation, this error was harmless due to the overwhelming evidence in this case. Had the analyst's testimony court ruled that the inadmissible, based on the defendant's inability to cross examine the phlebotomist, the State could have moved for a mistrial, as they were unaware the phlebotomist was not going to obey her produced the phlebotomist, or her supervisor at a subsequent trial, and the defendant would still have been convicted of both counts.

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